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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	IN THE MATTER OF THE PETITION 

FOR FINDING OF FAILURE TO INSURE

FOR WORKERS’ COMPENSATION

LIABILITY, and FOR ASSESSMENT OF

A CIVIL PENALTY

Against

ARCTERRA ENGINEERING AND SURVEYING, INC., ARCTERRA CONSULTING, INC., and KENNETH M. DUFFUS.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  700002828
AWCB Decision No.  12-0193
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on November 7, 2012


This petition for a finding of failure to insure for workers’ compensation liability and for civil penalty was heard in Anchorage, Alaska on November 16, 2011 and May 22, 2012.  Christine Christensen, Investigator for the Special Investigations Unit of the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Division of Workers’ Compensation, represented the State of Alaska (Division), appeared, and testified.  Attorney William Artus represented ArcTerra Engineering and Surveying, Inc. (Engineering), ArcTerra Consulting, Inc. (Consulting), and Kenneth Duffus (collectively Employers).  Dea Duffus appeared and testified.  Kenneth Duffus testified by deposition.  The record was left open at the conclusion of the May 22, 2012 hearing to allow Employer to file the transcript of Mr. Duffus’s deposition and for the Division to file documentation supporting its proposed penalty calculation.  The additional evidence was filed by June 28, 2012, and the record closed when the panel met on September 12, 2012 to consider the additional evidence.  On October 3, 2012, Employer filed further evidence and supporting memorandum, which was deemed to be a petition to reopen the record.  On October 8, 2012, the Division filed an opposition to the additional evidence.  The panel met to consider Employer’s request, reopened the record to allow the additional evidence, and again closed the record on October 24, 2012.  

ISSUES

As a preliminary matter, it is necessary to address and memorialize the decision to reopen the record.  

1.
Was the decision to reopen the record to allow Employer to file additional evidence correct?  

The Division contends Employers operated businesses utilizing employee labor without filing proof of workers’ compensation insurance and without maintaining workers’ compensation insurance.  The Division also contends that by failing to insure Employers have elected to be directly liable for benefits if any employees were injured while Employers were uninsured.  The Division further contends civil penalties should be assessed against Employers.  

Employers conceded Engineering operated a business using employee labor when it was not insured, but contends the Division erred as to the dates it was uninsured, and asks that mitigating factors be considered in any civil penalty assessed.  Employers contend the Division also erred in its assertion that Don Beeson was an employee of Engineering and Consulting.  

2.
Who was Mr. Beeson’s employer, and for what time periods?

3.
Was Engineering subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to file evidence of compliance with the workers’ compensation act and, if so, for what dates?

4.
Was Engineering subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to insure against workplace injuries and, if so, for what dates?

5.
Should a civil penalty be assessed against Engineering for its failure to insure?  If so, in what amount?

6.
Was Consulting subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to file evidence of compliance with the workers’ compensation act and, if so, for what dates?

7.
Was Consulting subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to insure against workplace injuries and, if so, for what dates?

8.
Should a civil penalty be assessed against Consulting for its failure to insure?  If so, in what amount?

FINDINGS OF FACT
Based on the record as a whole, the following facts and factual conclusions are established by a preponderance of the evidence:

1. Engineering was organized as an Alaska corporation on December 27, 2006 to provide professional engineering services.  Kenneth Duffus is the sole shareholder and registered agent of Engineering.  He was also the person in charge of the company.  (State of Alaska Business, Corporations and Professional Licensing printout; Kenneth Duffus).  
2. On September 25, 2007, Engineering’s workers’ compensation insurance policy for the year beginning June 6, 2007 was cancelled for nonpayment of the premium.  (National Council on Compensation Insurance (NCCI) POC Online Inquiry printout).  
3. Engineering came to the Division’s attention through a routine records check in June 2008, and on June 24, 2008, the Division served a Petition for Finding of Failure to Insure and for Assessment of Civil Penalty, as well as a discovery demand, on Engineering and Mr. Duffus by certified mail.  (Christensen; Affidavit of Service).  The petition asserted that Employer had been uninsured since September 25, 2007.  (Petition, March 26, 2010).  The discovery demand requested copies of “timecards, timesheets, wage records, appointment calendars, and any work schedules or other documentation showing the number of hours and days actually worked” by employees after September 25, 2007.  (Discovery Demand).  Dea Duffus received and signed for the petition and discovery demand on July 14, 2008.  (Return Receipt).  
4. On August 1, 2008, Engineering obtained workers’ compensation insurance.  The estimated annual premium was $5,847.00.  (Commerce and Industry Insurance Co., policy information page).  The estimated annual premium of $5,847.000 represents a daily cost to insure of $16.02.  (Observation).  
5. Having received no response to the petition or discovery demand, on September 26, 2008, the Division sent a letter to Engineering and Mr. Duffus stating it had not received a response, setting out the dates it believed Engineering was uninsured, and noting the potential penalties.  (Christensen letter, September 26, 2008).  Dea Duffus received the letter on October 9, 2008.  (Return Receipt).  
6. On October 10, 2008, the Division contacted Mr. Duffus, who asked that copies of the petition and discovery demand be faxed to Engineering’s bookkeeper.  Copies were faxed that day.  (Christensen; Fax confirmation, October 10, 2008).  
7. On October 27, 2008, Mr. Duffus faxed a letter to the Division.  Mr. Duffus stated that Engineering’s policy had lapsed in September 2007 because the insurer chose not to renew it.  He explained Engineering had difficulty reinstating the coverage and was experiencing difficulty responding to the discovery demand because many records had been archived.  He enclosed information on the August 1, 2008policy.  (Kenneth Duffus letter, October 27, 2008).
8. On January 29, 2009, the Division contacted Dea Duffus by telephone about the discovery responses.  Mrs. Duffus stated she had sent the documentation to the Division.  Because the Division had not received it, Mrs. Duffus said she would re-send it.  (Christensen).  
9. On February 10, 2009, the policy Engineering obtained on August 1, 2008 was cancelled for nonpayment of the premium.  (NCCI POC Online Inquiry printout).  
10. Due to an economic slowdown, Engineering’s business decreased, employees were let go, and on March 16, 2009, Engineering ceased doing business.  (Kenneth Duffus; Employment Security Division Tax Wage List).  

11. Consulting was organized as an Alaska corporation on March 21, 2009.  Dea Duffus is the registered agent.  Kenneth Duffus is president, treasurer and 99 percent shareholder.  Don Beeson is secretary and 1 percent shareholder.  (State of Alaska Business, Corporations and Professional Licensing printout, May 25, 2010; Kenneth Duffus).  
12. On April 29, 2009, the Division sent Engineering and Mr. Duffus a letter stating it still had not received discovery responses and noting that the policy Engineering obtained on August 1, 2008 had been cancelled.  (Christensen letter, April 29, 2009).  Dea Duffus signed for the letter on May 8, 2009.  (Return Receipt).
13. Further investigation revealed the Employment Security Division (ESD) account for Engineering had been closed March 31, 2009, and a new account for Consulting had been opened.  Consulting reported one employee, Don Beeson, in its ESD filings.  (Christensen; ESD Employer Maintenance printout, September 24, 2009).  
14. On September 24, 2009, the Division sent a letter to Mr. Duffus, Engineering, and Consulting stating the Division still had not received any discovery responses.  The letter noted the ESD account for Engineering had been closed and a new account opened for Consulting.  The Division noted that ESD records for Consulting showed one employee, but there was no indication Consulting had workers’ compensation insurance.  (Christensen letter, September 24, 2009).  Dea Duffus signed the return receipt on September 25, 2009.  (Return Receipt).  
15. At the Division’s request, a prehearing conference was scheduled for February 4, 2010.  Notice of the prehearing was sent to Engineering on December 7, 2009.  (Request for Conference, December 2, 2009; Notice of Prehearing Conference, December 7, 2009).  
16. On February 3, 2010, Dea Duffus faxed the Division a letter from Mr. Duffus dated January 15, 2009 [sic 2010].  Mr. Duffus’s letter responded to the Division’s December 2nd request for a prehearing conference and stated that he would be out of town from January 15th to Februrary 5th.  He advised that because Engineering was no longer conducting business in Alaska, there was “no mechanism” to respond to the Division’s requests.  He stated Consulting had no employees.  (Fax cover sheet, February 3, 2010; Kenneth Duffus letter, January 15, 2010).  
17. On February 4, 2010, the Division obtained and served a subpoena compelling Mr. Duffus to appear and produce records on February 18, 2010.  (Christensen).  The subpoena was served on Engineering by certified mail and received February 6, 2010.  (Return Receipt).
18. On February 8, 2010, The Division filed an amended petition and discovery demand that included Consulting
.  (Amended Petition, February 8, 2010).  The discovery demand requested the same documentation as the June 28, 2008 demand.  (Discovery Demand).  The amended petition and discovery demand were served by certified mail, and received by Dea Duffus on February 23, 2010.  (Affidavit of Service, February 8, 2010, Return Receipt).  
19. On February 11, 2010, Mr. Duffus emailed the Division a letter responding to the “Subpoena to Appear and Produce,” stating he was currently out of town, had not had time to research the requested documents, and would be tied up with depositions and court hearings between February 15th and 25th.  He again stated that Consulting had no employees.  (Kenneth Duffus letter, February 11, 2010).
20. The prehearing conference was rescheduled for March 4, 2010, at which time Mr. Duffus appeared, but did not produce the documentation ordered in the subpoena.  Mr. Duffus stated he was attending the prehearing as “a courtesy,” and did not represent Engineering because the company no longer existed.  The board designee explained that as an executive officer of Engineering and Consulting, Mr.Duffus was legally obligated to provide the information demanded in discovery and ordered him to do so.  The designee also explained to Mr. Duffus the board could penalize the businesses for the failures to insure, and that corporate officers may be liable for any injuries that occurred while the businesses were uninsured.  Mr. Duffus stated that the employee shown by ESD to work for Consulting actually worked for and was a member of House to Home, LLC.  A hearing was set for October 13, 2010.  The prehearing conference summary was served on the parties on March 8, 2010.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, March 4, 2010).  
21. House to Home, LLC was organized as an Alaska limited liability company on November 16, 2006. Dea Duffus was the organizer and registered agent.  In its 2008 Biennial Report, filed January 30, 2008, Dea Duffus was listed as the only member of the LLC.  (Certificate of Organization; Articles of Organization, Limited Liability Company Online 2008 Biennial Report).  The Division did not amend the petition to include House to Home, and it is not seeking a penalty regarding House to Home in this case.  (Christensen).  
22. Engineering’s ESD filings show four employees in January 2009 and two employees in February and March 2009, including Mr. Beeson.  (ESD Tax Wage Lists by Employer (Engineering) printout, June 19, 2009).  Consulting’s ESD filings show one employee, Mr. Beeson, after it began business in April 2009.  (ESD Tax Wage Lists by Employer (Consulting) printout, May 22, 2012.)  House to Home’s ESD filings show eleven employees during 2008 and 2009, but do not include Mr. Beeson.  (ESD Tax Wage Lists by Employer (House to Home) printout, May 22, 2012)

23. Employer did not produce the documentation as ordered at the March 4, 2010 prehearing conference, and, at the Division’s request, another prehearing was scheduled for July 13, 2010.  Notice of the prehearing was sent to Employers on June 7, 2010.  (Christensen; Workers’ Compensation Database; Notice of Prehearing Conference, June 7, 2010).  No one appeared for the Employers at the July 13th prehearing, and the prehearing was cancelled.  (Workers’ Compensation Database).  

24. On September 23, 2010, Mr. Duffus wrote to the board designee regarding the March 4, 2010 prehearing conference summary and the June 7th notice of prehearing.  Mr. Duffus stated he had been out of town, and only recently received the mailings.  He explained his health had been suffering, and he was only able to work a few hours per day.  He stated he would be out of town for medical reasons the last two weeks of October, and was involved in civil litigation that was going to trial in January.  He asked that the hearing be postponed until after January 2011.  (Kenneth Duffus letter, September 23, 2010).  

25. On September 28, 2010, the Division filed a response to Employer’s request to reschedule the hearing.  The Division pointed out Employers had been aware of the hearing date since the March 4, 2010 prehearing conference.  In regard to the civil litigation Mr. Duffus mentioned, the Division also pointed out that a settlement agreement had been filed on September 24, 2010, and the docket showed only a status conference scheduled for October 1, 2010.  (Response to Request to Reschedule Hearing, September 28, 2010).  

26. The board designee cancelled the October 13, 2010 hearing, and scheduled another prehearing conference for December 15, 2010 to reschedule the hearing.  (Workers’ Compensation Database).  Notice of the December 15, 2010 prehearing conference was mailed to Employers on November 4, 2010.  (Notice of Prehearing Conference, November 4, 2010).  
27. No one appeared for the Employers at the December 15, 2010 prehearing conference.  The investigator noted the Employers still had not responded to the discovery requests, despite the subpoena.  The hearing was rescheduled for January 19, 2011.  The prehearing conference summary was served on the parties December 15, 2010.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, December 15, 2010). 
28.  Notice of the January 19, 2011 hearing was sent to Employers by both regular and certified mail on December 28, 2010.  Dea Duffus signed, but did not date, the return receipt for the hearing notice sent to Consulting.  (Return Receipt).  Rachel Duffus signed for the notice sent to Engineering on December 29, 2010.  (Return Receipt).  
29. On January 6, 2011, Mr. Duffus wrote to the board designee stating he had just received the December 15, 2010 prehearing conference summary, but he had not received any notice of the prehearing.  Mr. Duffus stated that since his September 23, 2010 letter, additional legal activities and obligations had arisen.  He proposed several dates for a prehearing conference.  (Kenneth Duffus letter, January 6, 2011).  

30. On January 10, 2011, the Division stated it had no objection to continuing the January 19, 2011 hearing and asked that a prehearing be scheduled in February, 2011 to reschedule the hearing.  (Response to Request to Reschedule Hearing, January 10, 2011).  

31. The board designee continued the January 19, 2011 hearing, and a prehearing conference was scheduled for February 23, 2011, one of the dates Mr. Duffus had identified in his January 6, 2011 letter.  (Workers’ Compensation Database; Notice of Prehearing Conference, January 10, 2011).  
32. On February 10, 2011, Mr. Duffus wrote to the board designee explaining he had been selected as a juror for a two-week trial, which would conflict with the February 23, 2011 prehearing conference.  He asked that the prehearing be rescheduled in March, and proposed several dates.  (Kenneth Duffus letter, February 10, 2011).  
33. On February 15, 2011, the Division responded to Mr. Duffus’s letter.  Ms. Christensen stated she had contacted the jury clerk, who confirmed Mr. Duffus was serving as a juror, but the trial was due to be completed by February 18, 2011, and, if it was not, accommodations could make to allow Mr. Duffus to participate in the prehearing conference.  (Response to Request to Reschedule Prehearing, February 15, 2011).  
34. The Board designee continued the February 23, 2011 prehearing conference until March 24, 2011, a date Mr. Duffus proposed in his February 10, 2011 letter.  (Workers’ Compensation Database).  
35. On March 24, 2011, Mr. Duffus informed the board designee Employers had retained an attorney, but the attorney was not able to participate in the prehearing conference.  The board designee informed Mr. Duffus the attorney needed to file an entry of appearance and asked Ms. Christensen to reschedule the prehearing when the attorney was available.  (Workers’ Compensation Database).  

36. Mr. Artus filed his notice of appearance on behalf of Employers on April 4, 2011.  (Entry of Appearance).  

37. A prehearing conference was held July 20, 2011.  Mr. Artus appeared for Employers.  A hearing was set for November 16, 2011, and another prehearing was scheduled for October 20, 2011.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, July 20, 2011).  

38. At the October 20, 2011 prehearing conference, the board designee noted that Employers had not responded to the Division’s discovery requests.  The board designee ordered Employers to provide the discovery responses to the Division by November 7, 2011.  The designee confirmed the hearing remained as scheduled on November 16, 2011.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, October 20, 2011).  

39. On November 7, 2011, Employers provided partial discovery responses to the Division.  (Christensen).  This was three years, four months, and fourteen days after the discovery demand was served on Engineering (June 24, 2008), one year eight months and twenty-eight days after the subpoena was served, and one year, eight months, and thirty days after the discovery demand was served on Consulting (February 8, 2010).  (Observation).  Employers’ response consisted of Forms W-2 issued by Engineering and Consulting and 2010 timesheets for Don Beeson.   Engineering filed W-2s for eleven employees, including Mr. Beeson, in 2007, seven employees, including Mr. Beeson, in 2008, and four employees, again including Mr. Beeson, in 2009.  Consulting also issued a W-2 to Mr. Beeson for 2009.  (Employers Discovery, pp. 001-013).  The caption or heading on the2010 timesheets for Mr. Beeson is simply “Employee.” Each covers a two-week period, and they run from January 4 through September 12, 2010.  The timesheets vary somewhat in format, but show what work was done, with an allocation to several companies and projects, including both Consulting and House to Home.  Several of the timesheets have been initialed “DB.”  (Employers Discovery, pp. 014-030).  The timesheets show Mr. Beeson worked 158.3 employee workdays, not including vacation and holidays.  (Observation).  No timecards, timesheets, wage records, appointment calendars, work schedules or other documentation showing the number of hours and days actually worked were provided for any employee other than Mr. Beeson.  (Record).  

40. At the November 16, 2011 hearing, Dea Duffus testified for Employers, and Ms. Christensen testified for the Division.  Mr. Duffus was ill and unable to participate in the hearing.  The hearing was continued to allow Mr. Duffus and Don Beeson to testify.  (Record). 

41. At the November 16th hearing, Ms. Christensen testified that, because of Employers’ limited discovery response, there was no evidence as to uninsured employee workdays.  (Christensen).  Mrs. Duffus testified the bookkeeper, who was no longer employed, had decided it was more convenient to run all payroll through one company, and the bookkeeper had “sort of” done time cards for each employee and entered the information into Quickbooks.  Mrs. Duffus was unable to locate the timecards or Quickbook reports, however.   She identified seven employees who had worked for Engineering in 2007, 2008, and 2009 from paychecks, but provided no information on hours or days worked, and the paychecks were not offered as evidence.  Mrs. Duffus also testified that she was the originator of House to Home, but the members were Don Beeson, Phil Mays, and “someone else.”  Ms. Duffus explained that no one other than Mr. Duffus worked for Consulting, and even though Mr. Beeson’s payroll was processed through Consulting, he actually worked for House to Home.  Mrs. Duffus also testified as to her efforts to obtain workers’ compensation insurance after September 25, 2007.  (Dea Duffus).  

42. A prehearing conference was held January 24, 2012 to schedule the continuation of the hearing, and the parties agreed to continue the hearing on February 15, 2012.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, January 24, 2012).  

43. The February 15, 2012 hearing was continued because of one of the panel members was unavailable.  (Record).  On the board’s motion, the hearing was rescheduled for April 19, 2012.  (Hearing Notice, March 15, 2012).  

44. On April 18, 2012, Mr. Artus informed the board designee that Mr. Duffus would be out of town for surgery on the 19th, and asked that the hearing be continued until May 21 to 31, 2012.  (William Artus letter, April 18, 2012).  The hearing was scheduled for May 22, 2012.  (Hearing Notice, April 27, 2012).

45. On May 22, 2012 Mr. Duffus was again unavailable because of medical reasons, but the hearing went forward.  The Division again noted that while Employers clearly had employees, there was little evidence from which uninsured employee workdays could be determined, and the Division proposed a penalty based on ESD records.  The record was held open to allow the Division to file additional evidence supporting its penalty calculations and to allow Mr. Duffus to testify by deposition.  Mr. Beeson was not called to testify.  (Record).  

46. The Division’s documentation and penalty calculation was filed on June 1, 2012.  The Division proposed a penalty be assessed based on the assumption that each employee reported to ESD had worked every workday in each quarter in which the employee was paid wages.  (Division’s Additional Documentation and Calculation, June 1, 2012.  Accepting the Division’s proposed calculation would have resulted in a total penalty of well over $100,000.00.  (Observation).  The transcript of Mr. Duffus’s deposition was filed June 28, 2012.  (Record).  The panel met to review the evidence and deliberate on September 11, 2012, and the record closed at that time.

47. On October 5, 2012, Employers’ filed additional evidence, Dea Duffus’s affidavit regarding the additional evidence, and a calculation of employee workdays.  (Employers Evidence, Report, and Affidavit, October 3, 2012).  Employers’ filings were deemed to be a petition to reopen the record.  

48. On October 8, 2012, the Division filed an opposition to Employers’ late filed evidence.  (Opposition to Late Filing, October 8, 2012).  

49. On October 24, 2012, the panel met, determined the hearing record was incomplete, and reopened the record to allow Employers’ additional evidence.  After deliberations, the record again closed.  

50. Included in Employer’s late-filed evidence is an extensive exchange of email between Dea Duffus and Employers’ insurance agent regarding worker’s compensation insurance, both for House to Home and Engineering.  (Employers’ Exhibits 2, 3, 4, and 5).  Most of these emails had been filed at the November 2011 hearing (Employer’s Exhibit A).  On February 19, 2008, the agent informed Ms. Duffus that firms could not be combined under one policy unless the owners owned more that 50 percent of each of the entities.  (W.H. Gill email, February 19, 2008).  Ms. Duffus replied that Ken Duffus and Don Beeson were members of House to Home, “although they are maybe (sic) a third member in the future.”  She stated “it would appear” they could combine coverage under one entity given Mr. Duffus’s ownership.  (Dea Duffus email, February 19, 2008).  House to Home became insured on April 5, 2008.  (Employers’ Exhibit 4).  On May 14, 2008, Ms. Duffus emailed the agent regarding Engineering and stated “to my knowledge we do not have work comp or auto insurance in place.”  (Dea Duffus email, May 14, 2008).  

51. Employer also filed printouts of hours worked  by Engineering employees for the periods from September 25, 2007 through February 29, 2008, from April 7, 2008 through August 1, 2008, and from January 1 through February 27, 2008.  (Employers’ Exhibits 6, 10, and 12.  ).  No printouts were provided for the periods from March 1, 2008 through April 6, 2008 or from February 10, 2009 through March 16, 2009.  The printouts from September 25, 2007 through February 29, 2008 show 616.9 employee workdays, based on an eight-hour workday.  (Observation).  The printouts from April 7, 2008 through July 31, 2008 show 338.7 employee workdays, and those from February 10 through February 27 2009 show Mr. Beeson worked 13 employee workdays, again based on an eight-hour workday.  (Observation).  

52. Employer filed timesheets for Mr. Beeson from December 28, 2008 through December 31, 2009.  (Employers’ Exhibit 14).  The timesheets do not identify the employer, but indicate the “Customer:Job” is House to Home.  Disregarding vacation and holidays, the timesheets show Mr. Beeson worked 182 workdays after March 15, 2009.  (Observation).  

53. Employer filed Schedule K-1s from House to Home to Mr. Beeson for 2008 and 2009.  (Employers’ Exhibits 8 and 15).  Both show Mr. Beeson was a member of the LLC with a one-third interest at the beginning and end of each year.  While both K-1s allocate a proportionate share of House to Home’s income or loss to Mr. Beeson, neither shows that he received any guaranteed payments or other compensation from the LLC.  (Observation).  

54. Employer filed invoices from Engineering or Consulting to House to Home showing House to Home was billed for “employee expense” or “personnel.”  (Employer’s Exhibits 9 and 13).  There is no evidence House to Home paid any of the invoices.  (Record).  

55. Engineering reported one injury to an employee that occurred while it was insured.  (Christensen; Workers’ Compensation Database, injured worker printout).  

56. Engineering had filed an executive officer waiver; Consulting had not.  (Christensen; Executive Officer printout).  

57. Alaska Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing shows Mr. Duffus is an officer, director, agent, or member of sixteen business entities in Alaska, including Engineering and Consulting, but not House to Home.  Mrs. Duffus is an officer, director, agent, or member of six additional entities, including House to Home. In his testimony, Mr. Duffus discussed six of the related entities.  (Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing printouts; Kenneth Duffus).  

PRINCIPLES OF LAW
Employers have a duty to insure their employees against work-related injury.  

AS 23.30.060. Election of direct payment presumed.

(a) An employer is conclusively presumed to have elected to pay compensation directly to employees for injuries sustained arising out of and in the course of the employment according to the provisions of this chapter, until notice in writing of 

insurance, stating the name and address of the insurance company and the period of insurance, is given to the employee. 

AS 23.30.075 Employer’s liability to pay.

(a) An employer under this chapter, unless exempted, shall either insure and keep insured for the employer's liability under this chapter in an insurance company or association . . . or shall furnish the board satisfactory proof of the employer's financial ability to pay directly the compensation provided for . . . . 
(b) If an employer fails to insure and keep insured employees subject to this chapter or fails to obtain a certificate of self-insurance from the board, upon conviction the court shall impose a fine of $10,000 and may impose a sentence of imprisonment for not more than one year . . . .  If an employer is a corporation, all persons who, at the time of the injury or death, had authority to insure the corporation or apply for a certificate of self-insurance, and the person actively in charge of the business of the corporation shall be subject to the penalties prescribed in this subsection and shall be personally, jointly, and severally liable together with the corporation for the payment of all compensation or other benefits in which the corporation is liable under this chapter if the corporation at that time is not insured or qualified as a self-insurer.  

When an employer is subject to the requirement of AS 23.30.075 and fails to comply, the board may assess a civil penalty.  Since the November 7, 2005 effective date of the 2005 amendments to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act), when an employer subject to the requirements of AS 23.30.075 fails to insure, the law grants the board discretion to assess a civil penalty of up to $1,000.00 for each employee, for each day an employee is employed while the employer fails to insure.  Alaska’s penalty provision at AS 23.30.080(f) is one of the highest in the nation.  See e.g., In re Alaska Native Brotherhood #2, AWCB Decision No. 06-0113 (May 8, 2006).  The statute’s severity is a statement of policy that failure to insure for worker’s compensation liability will not be tolerated in Alaska.  The legislature has made its intentions clear: uninsured employers are subject to a severe penalty when employees are permitted to work without coverage for workers’ compensation liability in place.  See Committee Minutes from March 10, 2005, SB 130, before the Senate Labor and Commerce Committee, testimony of Director of Workers’ Compensation, Paul Lisanke, beginning at 1:47:55 PM.  

AS 23.30.080 Employer’s failure to insure.

 . . .

(f) If an employer fails to insure or provide security as required by AS 23.30.075, the division may petition the board to assess a civil penalty of up to $1,000.00 for each employee for each day an employee is employed while the employer failed to insure or provide the security required by AS 23.30.075.  The failure of an employer to file evidence of compliance as required by AS 23.30.085 creates a rebuttable presumption that the employer failed to insure or provide security as required by 
AS 23.30.075.

In assessing an appropriate civil penalty, consideration is given to a number of factors to determine whether an uninsured employer’s conduct, or the impact of that conduct, aggravates or mitigates its offense. A penalty is assessed based on the unique circumstances arising in each case.  The primary goal of a penalty under AS 23.30.080(f) is not to be unreasonably punitive, but rather to bring the employer into compliance, deter future lapses, ensure the continued employment of the business’ employees in a safe work environment, and to satisfy the community’s interest in fairly penalizing the offender.  Alaska R & C Communications, LLC v. State of Alaska, Division of Workers’ Compensation, Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission,  AWCAC Appeal No. 07-043 (September 16, 2008).  A penalty is not intended to destroy a business or cause the loss of employment.  Id. at page 27.  AS 23.30.080(f) permits assessment of “a civil penalty of up to $1,000 per day of employment per uninsured employee when an employer is uninsured.”  Based upon this specific statutory language and AS 23.30.135(a), discretion is granted to assess an appropriate civil penalty considering the specific facts of each case, and the assessment may be between zero and $1,000.00 per day per uninsured employee.

Former decisions discussed a number of aggravating and mitigating factors considered in determining appropriate civil penalties under AS 23.30.080(f).  Those factors include: number of days of uninsured employee labor, the size of the business, the record of injuries of the employer, both in general and during the uninsured period, the extent of employer’s compliance with the Act, the diligence exercised in remedying the failure to insure, the clarity of notice of insurance cancellation, employer’s compliance with the investigation and remedial requirements, the risk of employer’s workplace, the impact of the penalty on employer’s ability to continue to conduct business, the impact of the penalty on the employees, the impact of the penalty on employer’s community, whether employer acted in blatant disregard for the statutory requirements, whether employer properly accepted service of the Division’s petition, whether employer violated a stop order, and credibility of employer’s promises to correct its behavior.  Based on these factors, a wide range of penalties have been found reasonable based on the specific circumstance of the violation.  See, e.g., In Re St. Lawrence Assisted Living Home, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 10-170 (October 12, 2010).  These factors have been codified in 8 AAC 45.176, effective February 28, 2010.

In In re Alfonso Bolivar, AWCB Decision No. 07-0122 (May 10, 2007), the board found a penalty of $70.00 per uninsured employee workday appropriate.  The employer was an experienced business person, who knew workers’ compensation insurance was required, and obtained insurance within two days of notice by the Division.  The employer had been non-compliant, for an extensive period, although only 396 calendar days and 236 uninsured employee workdays occurred after the effective date of the penalty provision of AS 23.30.080(f).  Employer had two employees, who were exposed to relatively low risk, and no injuries had been reported.  Annual payroll was $22,000.00 to $38,800.00 per year, and the penalty was $16,520.00.

The law requires employers to file evidence of compliance with the workers’ compensation insurance requirements.

AS 23.30.085 Duty of employer to file evidence of compliance.

(a) An employer subject to this chapter, unless exempted, shall initially file evidence of his compliance with the insurance provisions of this chapter with the division, in the form prescribed by the director.  The employer shall also give evidence of compliance within 10 days after the termination of the employer’s insurance by expiration or cancellation.  These requirements do not apply to an employer who has certification from the board of the employer’s financial ability to pay compensation directly without insurance.
(b) If an employer fails, refuses, or neglects to comply with the provision of this section, the employer shall be subject to the penalties provided in AS 23.30.070 . . . .
AS 23.30.240. Officers of corporations, municipal corporations, and nonprofit corporations and members of limited liability companies as employees.

. . . .

(b) Except as provided in this subsection, a member of a limited liability company organized under AS 10.50 is not an employee of the company under this chapter. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a limited liability company may bring a member of the company within the coverage of the company's insurance contract by specifically including the member in the contract of insurance. The election to bring the member within the company's coverage continues in force for the period the contract of insurance is in effect. During that period, a member brought within the coverage of the insurance contract is an employee of the company under this chapter.

AS 23.30.255. Penalty for failure to pay compensation.

(a) An employer required to secure the payment of compensation under this chapter who fails to do so is guilty of a class B felony if the amount involved exceeds $25,000 or a class C felony if the amount involved is $25,000 or less. If the employer is a corporation, its president, secretary, and treasurer are also severally liable to the fine or imprisonment imposed for the failure of the corporation to secure the payment of compensation.  The president, secretary, and treasurer are severally personally liable, jointly with the corporation, for the compensation or other benefit which accrues under this chapter in respect to an injury which happens to an employee of the corporation while it has failed to secure the payment of compensation as required by AS 23.30.075.  

AS 23.30.395. Definitions. 

In this chapter,

. . . .

(20) "employer" means the state or its political subdivision or a person employing one or more persons in connection with a business or industry coming within the scope of this chapter and carried on in this state;

8 AAC 45.120. Evidence
. . . .

(m) The board will not consider evidence or legal memoranda filed after the board closes the hearing record, unless the board, upon its motion, determines that the hearing was not completed and reopens the hearing record for additional evidence or legal memoranda. The board will give the parties written notice of reopening the hearing record, will specify what additional documents are to be filed, and the deadline for filing the documents.
8 AAC 45.176. Failure to provide security: assessment of civil penalties. 

(a) If the board finds an employer to have failed to provide security as required by AS 23.30.075, the employer is subject to a civil penalty under AS 23.30.080(f), determined as follows: 

. . . .

(3) if an employer has not previously violated AS 23.30.075 , and is found to have no more than three aggravating factors, the employer will be assessed a civil penalty of no less than $10 and no more than $50 per uninsured employee workday; however, the civil penalty may not be less than two times the premium the employer would have paid had the employer complied with AS 23.30.075 ; without a board hearing, if an employer agrees to a stipulation of facts and executes a confession of judgment without action, the employer will be given a 25 percent discount of the assessed civil penalty; however, the discounted amount may not be less than any civil penalty that would be assessed under (2) of this subsection; 

(4) if an employer is found to have no more than six aggravating factors, the employer will be assessed a civil penalty of no less than $51 and no more than $499 per uninsured employee workday; however, the civil penalty may not be less than two times the premium the employer would have paid had the employer complied with AS23.30.075 . . . 

. . . . 

(d) For the purposes of this section, "aggravating factors" include  

(1) failure to obtain workers’ compensation insurance within 10 days after the division’s notification of a lack of workers’ compensation insurance; 

(2) failure to maintain workers’ compensation insurance after previous notification by the division of a lack of coverage; 

(3) a violation of AS 23.30.075 that exceeds 180 calendar days; 

(4) previous violations of AS 23.30.075; 

(5) issuance of a stop order by the board under AS 23.30.080(d), or the director under AS 23.30.080(e); 

(6) violation of a stop order issued by the board under AS 23.30.080(d), or the director under AS 23.30.080(e); 

(7) failure to comply with the division’s initial discovery demand within 30 days after the demand; 

(8) failure to pay a penalty previously assessed by the board for violations of AS 23.30.075; 

(9) failure to provide compensation or benefits payable under the Act to an uninsured injured employee; 

(10) a history of injuries or deaths sustained by one or more employees while employer was in violation of AS 23.30.075; 

(11) a history of injuries or deaths while the employer was insured under AS 23.30.075; 

(12) failure to appear at a hearing before the board after receiving proper notice under AS 23.30.110; 

(13) cancellation of a workers’ compensation insurance policy due to the employer’s failure to comply with the carrier’s requests or procedures; 

(14) lapses in business practice that would be used by a reasonably diligent business person, including 

(A) ignoring certified mail; 

(B) failure to properly supervise employees; and 

(C) failure to gain a familiarity with laws affecting the use of employee labor; 

(15) receipt of government funding of any form to obtain workers’ compensation coverage under AS 23.30.075, and failure to provide that coverage.

The Internal Revenue Code addresses how a partnership’s payments to a partner for services are to be considered:

26 USC § 707 - Transactions between partner and partnership . . . .

(c) Guaranteed payments 

To the extent determined without regard to the income of the partnership, payments to a partner for services or the use of capital shall be considered as made to one who is not a member of the partnership, but only for the purposes of section 61 (a) (relating to gross income) and, subject to section 263, for purposes of section 162 (a) (relating to trade or business expenses). 

Under Alaska’s Employment Security Act, unemployment insurance is not required for some “executive officers”: 

AS 23.20.526. Exclusions from definition of "employment".

(a) In this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, "employment" does not include

(19) service performed for a corporation by an employee of the corporation if

(A) the corporation is incorporated under AS 10.06;

(B) the corporation is not a government corporation; and

(C) the employee is an executive officer of the corporation;

The Employment Security Division has extended the “executive officer” exception to members of limited liability companies.  In re Horse Drawn Carriage Co., LLC, et al, Decision 08-TAX-003 (June 30, 2009).  

ANALYSIS

1. Was the decision to reopen the record to allow Employer to file additional evidence correct?  
A large part of the additional evidence consisted of emails regarding Engineering’s attempts to reinsure after September 25, 2007, most of which had been filed as an exhibit at hearing, and which supported Dea Duffus’s hearing testimony.  The balance of the information consisted of computer printouts of employee time records, Don Beeson’s timesheets, invoices sent to House to Home for personnel, and House to Home Schedule K-1s showing Mr. Beeson was a member of the LLC.  These documents support, or provide additional detail for, the testimony of Dea and Kenneth Duffus.  At his deposition, Mr. Duffus testified some of Employers’ records had been subpoenaed by the FBI in connection with an investigation of one of Employers’ clients.  Ms. Christensen did not object when Mr. Artus stated he would get copies of the documents and file them with the board.  Given the lack of detailed records regarding employee workdays filed before or at the May 2012 hearing, the hearing was not completed, and, and under 8 AAC 45.120(m), the record was properly reopened to allow the filing of the additional documents. 

2.
Who was Mr. Beeson’s employer, and for what time periods?

The Division contends Mr. Beeson was an employee of Engineering until March 16, 2009, when it ceased doing business, and he then became an employee of Consulting.  Employers contend Mr. Beeson was a member of, and began working for, House to Home at its inception, and Engineering and Consulting merely administered payroll for House to Home.  Employers contend that as a member of the LLC, workers’ compensation insurance was not required for Mr. Beeson.  

Both Mr. and Mrs. Duffus testified Engineering, and then Consulting, processed payroll for House to Home and other entities in which the Duffuses’ had an interest.  The captions or headings on Mr. Beeson’s timesheets for 2009 and 2010 do not include a company name.  The heading on the 2009 timesheets is simply “Timesheet”, and they all list House to Home under “Customer: Job.”  Similarly, the heading on the 2010 timesheets is simply “Employee,” and they allocate Mr. Beeson’s time to several “Company/Project” categories, including House to Home.  While that might indicate House to Home was the employer, it could just as easily indicate Engineering or Consulting was his employer, and they were doing work for House to Home.  

Engineering included Mr. Beeson as an employee in its ESD reports for 2007, 2008, and the first quarter of 2009, and Consulting reported to ESD that Mr. Beeson was an employee during the last three quarters of 2009.  While Engineering or Consulting may have processed House to Home’s payroll, those House to Home’s employees were reported to ESD under House to Home’s ESD account, and Mr. Beeson was not included in House to Home’s ESD reports.  However, because an LLC need not pay unemployment insurance for members, that is not determinative.  Nevertheless, Employers offered no explanation as to why, if Mr. Beeson was indeed an exempt employee of House to Home, Engineering and Consulting still continued to include him in their ESD reports and pay unemployment insurance for him as if he was an employee.  The fact that Engineering and Consulting continued to report Mr. Beeson as an employee and pay unemployment insurance for him, while House to Home reported the other employees, tends to show Mr. Beeson was an employee of Engineering and Consulting.  

The Schedule K-1’s that House to Home provided Mr. Beeson for 2008 and 2009 show he was a member of the LLC, although the 2008 K-1 showing Mr. Beeson was a member at the beginning of the year is inconsistent with the biennial report filed January 30, 2008 stating Mrs. Duffus was the only member.  The fact that Mr. Beeson was a member of the LLC, however, does not necessarily mean the LLC was also his employer. 

House to Home’s K-1s also tend to show Mr. Beeson was not an employee of House to Home.  If House to Home had been paying Mr. Beeson compensation for services, such as a monthly salary,  apart from his share of the profits or losses of the business, that compensation would have been a “guaranteed payment” under 26 USC § 707(c).  Had Mr. Beeson received guaranteed payments, they should have been reported on the K-1s.  Neither the 2008 nor the 2009 K-1 show any guaranteed payments.  On the other hand, Engineering filed W-2s showing it paid compensation to Mr. Beeson for the years 2007, 2008, and 2009, and Consulting filed a W-2 showing it also paid Mr. Beeson compensation in 2009.  

How the parties reported their relationship to the Internal Revenue Service and ESD at the time is more persuasive than later assertions to the contrary.  The preponderance of the evidence is that Mr. Beeson was an employee of Engineering from at least September 25, 2007 until March 15, 2009 and of Consulting from March 16, 2009 through at least September 12, 2010.  

3.
Was Engineering subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to file evidence of compliance with the workers’ compensation act, and, if so, for what dates?

It is undisputed that Engineering was an employer under the Act and utilized employee labor without workers’ compensation insurance coverage during part of the alleged lapse.  Consequently, under AS 23.30.085(a) it was required to file proof of compliance with the workers’ compensation insurance requirements, but did not.  The time periods that Engineering was uninsured and failed to file proof of compliance are in dispute, however.  

The parties agree that Engineering first became uninsured on September 25, 2007 when its policy was cancelled.  Employers contend the lapse ended when House to Home became insured on April 5, 2008, under a policy that covered Engineering’s employees as well.  The Division contends the lapse continued until August 1, 2008, when Engineering again obtained coverage in its own name.  

The Division also contends Engineering became uninsured again when its insurance was cancelled on February 10, 2009 and remained uninsured until March 16, 2009 when it ceased doing business.  Employers contend Engineering had no employees after February 10, 2009, so workers’ compensation insurance was not required.  

Employers’ contention it was insured under the policy issued to House to Home on April 5, 2008, is without merit.  The February 19, 2008, email from the insurance agent to Ms. Duffus clearly states that entities will not be included in the same policy unless there is a 50 percent or more common ownership.  Mr. Duffus was the sole shareholder of Engineering.  In her February 19, 2008 reply to the insurance agent, Ms. Duffus stated Mr. Duffus and Mr. Beeson were the owners of House to Home, but at hearing she testified Don Beeson, Phil Mays, and “someone else” were the owners. Mr. Duffus testified Todd O’Banion was also an owner.  There is no evidence as to the amount of Mr. Duffus’s interest in House to Home, if any.  In any case, there is no evidence that House to Home’s April 5, 2008 policy included Engineering as an additional insured. To the contrary, Ms. Duffus’s May 14, 2008 email to the insurance agent stating that to her knowledge Engineering did not have workers’ compensation insurance in place demonstrates that Employers knew Engineering was not covered under House to Home’s policy.  Engineering was uninsured for workers’ compensation liability, and could not have filed proof of compliance, from September 25, 2007 until August 1, 2008 when it again obtained coverage.  

The Employers’ contention that Engineering had no employees from February 10, 2009, when its policy was cancelled until it ceased doing business on March 16, 2009 is also without merit.  Employer’s contention springs from its assertion that Mr. Beeson was an employee of House to Home rather than Engineering.  That issue was resolved above: Mr. Beeson was an employee of Engineering from February 10, 2009 until it ceased doing business.  Also, ESD’s Employee Count Maintenance shows Engineering reported it had two employees in March 2009.  Because Engineering had employees, from February 10, 2009 until March 16, 2009, it was required to insure for workers’ compensation liability; it did not, and it could not have filed proof of compliance.  

Engineering utilized employee labor from September 25, 2007 until August 1, 2008 and from February 10, 2009 until March 16, 2009 without workers’ compensation insurance coverage and without filing proof of compliance.  

Because Engineering failed to file proof of compliance as required by AS 23.30.085, any employee who may file a claim for an injury arising from September 25, 2007 to August 1, 2008 or from February 10, 2009 to March 16, 2009, is entitled to an additional award under AS 23.30.070(f).  

4.
Was Engineering subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to insure against workplace injuries and, if so, for what dates?

Under AS 23.30.080(d), an employer that fails to provide proof of compliance as required by AS 23.30.085, is presumed to have failed to insure or provide security as required by AS 23.30.075.  Here, not only did Engineering not provide proof of compliance, but it in fact failed to provide workers’ compensation insurance coverage from September 25, 2007 to August 1, 2008 and from February 10, 2009 to March 16, 2009.  

Engineering had a duty to provide workers’ compensation insurance for its employees during the periods from September 25, 2007 to August 1, 2008 and from February 10, 2009 to March 16, 2009.  Because it did not do so, it is liable for benefits under the Act for any compensable claims arising during the periods it was in violation of AS 23.20.075.  Based upon Engineering’s lack of coverage, under AS 23.30.060 it has elected to directly pay compensation or benefits for any compensable claims arising during the period from September 25, 2007 to August 1, 2008 and from February 10, 2009 to March 16, 2009.  

Under AS 23.30.075(b), when an employer is a corporation, all persons with the authority to insure the corporation and the person actively in charge of the corporation are personally liable for the payment of benefits to employees injured while the corporation was uninsured.  Engineering was a corporation, and Mr. Duffus was the person in charge.  As such, he is personally liable for benefits to any Engineering employee who may have been injured from September 25, 2007 to August 1, 2008 and from February 10, 2009 to March 16, 2009.  

5.
Should a civil penalty be assessed against Engineering for its failure to insure?  If so, in what amount?

Under the Act, when an employer subject to the requirements of AS 23.30.075 fails to insure, AS 23.30.080(f) grants the board discretion to assess a civil penalty of up to $1,000.00 per employee for each day an employee is employed while the employer was uninsured.  Except in the most egregious cases, the maximum penalty is not appropriate.  

To ensure similar penalties are imposed on similarly culpable employers, 8 AAC 45.176 was enacted and became effective on February 28, 2010, well after Engineering ceased doing business.  In assessing an appropriate civil penalty prior to the adoption of the regulation, consideration was given to a number of factors to determine whether an uninsured employer’s conduct, or the impact of that conduct, aggravates or mitigates its offense.  A penalty was assessed based on the unique circumstances arising in each case.  The primary goal of a penalty under AS 23.30.080(f) is not to be unreasonably punitive, but rather to bring the employer into compliance, deter future lapses, ensure the continued employment of the business’ employees in a safe work environment, and to satisfy the community’s interest in fairly penalizing the offender.  Alaska R & C Communications, LLC v. State of Alaska, Division of Workers’ Compensation, Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission,  AWCAC Appeal No. 07-043 (September 16, 2008).  Here, because Engineering no longer has employees and is no longer in business, only the community’s interest in fairly penalizing the offender applies.  

The factors considered in assessing a civil penalty included: the number of days of uninsured employee labor, the size of the business, the employer’s record of injuries, both in general and during the uninsured period, the extent of employer’s compliance with the Act, the diligence exercised in remedying the failure to insure, the clarity of notice of insurance cancellation, employer’s compliance with the investigation and remedial requirements, the risk of employer’s workplace, the impact of the penalty on employer’s ability to continue to conduct business, the impact of the penalty on the employees, the impact of the penalty on employer’s community, whether employer acted in blatant disregard for the statutory requirements, whether employer properly accepted service of the Division’s petition, whether employer violated a stop order, and credibility of employer’s promises to correct its behavior.  Based on these factors, a wide range of penalties have been found reasonable based on the specific circumstance of the violation.  See, e.g., In Re St. Lawrence Assisted Living Home, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 10-170 (October 12, 2010).

Engineering’s conduct here is significantly worse than the employers conduct in Bolivar, and, without the regulation, would justify a penalty higher than the $70.00 per uninsured employee workday imposed in that case.  In both cases, the employees were exposed to relatively low risk, the employers had significant business experience, and the employers knew workers’ compensation insurance was required.  In Bolivar, the employer obtained insurance within two days of notice from the Division and the decision does not include a delay in responding to the Division’s discovery demand as a factor.  Here, Engineering did not obtain coverage until 48 days after the date of the petition.  Further, once Engineering obtained coverage, it failed to maintain it.  The policy was later cancelled for failure to pay the premium, while Engineering still had employees.  Particularly worrisome here is Employers’ utter lack of concern about responding to the Division’s discovery demand and the failure to respond to the subpoena.  In late January 2009, some seven months after the discovery demand, Mrs. Duffus told the investigator she had sent the information and would resend it.  She did not.  Mr. Duffus did not produce the documents as ordered in the subpoena, even after the board designee ordered him to do so.  On November 7, 2011, well over three years after the discovery demand and over one and one-half years after the subpoena, Employers produced some records.  Those records did not include any timecards, timesheets, wage records, appointment calendars, work schedules or other documentation showing the number of hours and days actually worked by any Engineering employee.  The forms W-2 showed only that an employee had worked for Engineering during the year, but gave no information as to number of days or hours worked.  Mr. Beeson’s 2010 timesheets were for a time period after Engineering had ceased to do business.  Finally, in October 2012, more than four years after the discovery demand, after the hearing, and after the Division’s proposed penalty calculations suggested the penalty might be very large, the Employers filed information showing hours and days worked for Engineering employees for most, but not all, of the alleged lapses.  

Nevertheless, notwithstanding the regulation’s inapplicability to the lapse in this case, because it results in a lower penalty, the regulation will be applied.  Under 8 AAC 45.176, the penalty range is determined by the number of aggravating factors present in the case.  Here, five of the aggravating factors identified in 8 AAC 45.176(d) are present:  First, Engineering failed to obtain workers’ compensation insurance within 10 days of notice from the Division.  Second, Engineering failed to maintain its workers’ compensation insurance coverage after notice by the Division of lack of coverage.  Third, Engineering’s violation of AS 23.30.075 exceeded 180 calendar days.  Fourth, Engineering failed to comply with the Division’s discovery demand within 30 days.  And fifth, Engineering had a history of injuries while it was insured.  

During the period from September 25, 2007 to August 1, 2008, Engineering was uninsured for 311 calendar days, during which employees worked 955 uninsured workdays.  The period from February 10, 2009 to March 16, 2009 was 39 calendar days, and Engineering’s employee’s worked 13 workdays.  That results in a total of 350 calendar days and 968 uninsured employee workdays.  Consequently, 8 AAC 45.176(a)(4) provides the proper penalty range here:  “no less than $51 and no more than $499 per uninsured employee workday,” but not less than two times the premium the employer would have paid had it complied with AS 23.30.075.  Because Engineering is no longer in business, there is no risk to future employees, and the minimum penalty is appropriate.  With 968 uninsured employee workdays at $51 per day, that results in a penalty of $49,368.00, which exceeds twice the omitted premium (350 calendar days times $16.02 per day times two equals $11,214.00).  

6.
Was Consulting subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to file evidence of compliance with the workers’ compensation act, and, if so, for what dates?

Employers contend that from April 1, 2009 when it began operations, Consulting had no employees, but merely processed payroll for other entities.  As determined above, Mr. Beeson was an employee of Consulting from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  Mr. Beeson was the corporate secretary, but because Consulting did not file an executive officer waiver, Mr. Beeson was a covered employee, and workers’ compensation insurance was required.  Consequently, under AS 23.30.085(a), Consulting was required to file proof of compliance with the workers’ compensation insurance requirements, but did not.  

Because Consulting failed to file proof of compliance as required by AS 23.30.085, any employee who may file a claim for an injury arising from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010, is entitled to an additional award under AS 23.30.070(f).  
7.
Was Consulting subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to insure against workplace injuries and, if so, for what dates?

Because Consulting failed to file proof of compliance, it is presumed to have failed to insure or provide security as required by AS 23.30.075.  In addition, it is clear that Consulting did not in fact insure at any time from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  Not only did Consulting not provide proof of compliance, but it failed to provide workers’ compensation insurance coverage from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  

Employer had a duty to provide workers’ compensation insurance for its employees during the periods from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  Because it did not do so, it is liable for benefits under the Act for any compensable claims arising during the periods it was in violation of AS 23.20.075.  Based upon Consulting’s lack of coverage, under AS 23.30.060 it has elected to directly pay compensation or benefits for any compensable claims arising during the period from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  

Under AS 23.30.255, the president, secretary, and treasurer of a corporation are personally liable for the payment of benefits to employees injured while the corporation was uninsured. Consulting is a corporation; Mr. Duffus is the president and treasurer, and Don Beeson is the secretary.  As such, they are jointly and severally liable with Consulting for benefits to any Consulting employee who may have been injured from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  

8.
Should a civil penalty be assessed against Consulting for its failure to insure?  If so, in what amount?

Here, 349 of the 514 days Consulting was uninsured occurred before the February 28, 2010 effective date of 8 AAC 45.176.  As a result, the regulation may not apply to the entire lapse.  However, there is no significant difference in Consulting’s culpability before and after February 28, 2010, and no reason the penalty should be different for either period.  Three of the aggravating factors identified in 8 AAC 45.176(d) are present here:  First, Consulting failed to obtain workers compensation insurance within ten days of notification by the Division.  Second, Consulting’s violation exceeded 180 days.  And third, Consulting failed to comply with the Division’s discovery demand within 30 days.  

With three aggravating factors, 8 AAC 45.176(a)(3) provides the proper penalty range:  “no less than $10 and no more than $50 per uninsured employee workday,” but not less than two times the premium the employer would have paid had it complied with AS 23.30.075.  The minimum penalty within that range is appropriate for an unusual reason.  Mr. Beeson appears to have been Consulting’s only employee.  However, because he was the corporate secretary and there was no executive officer waiver in place, under AS 23.30.255, he would also have been jointly and severally liable for his benefits if he was injured.  

Between March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010, Mr. Beeson worked 340 uninsured employee workdays.  At $10 per uninsured workday, that results in a penalty of $3,400.00.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.
The decision to reopen the record to allow Employer to file additional evidence was correct.

2. Engineering was Mr. Beeson’s employer from September 25, 2007 until March 15, 2009.  Consulting was Mr. Beeson’s employer from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  

3.
Engineering was subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to file evidence of compliance with the workers’ compensation act from September 25, 2007 until August 1, 2008, and from February 10, 2009 until March 15, 2009.  

4.
Engineering was subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to insure against workplace injuries from September 25, 2007 until August 1, 2008, and from February 10, 2009 until March 15, 2009.

5.
A civil penalty will be assessed against Engineering for its failure to insure in the amount of $49,368.00.

6.
Consulting was subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to file evidence of compliance with the workers’ compensation act from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  

7.
Consulting was subject to, and in violation of, the requirement to insure against workplace injuries from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.

8.
A civil penalty will be assessed against Consulting for its failure to insure in the amount of $3,400.00.  

ORDER
1. Should Engineering resume operations, it shall maintain workers’ compensation insurance coverage of any employees in compliance with AS 23.30.075, and shall file evidence of compliance in accordance with AS 23.30.085. 
2. Engineering is liable for any compensable claims by its employees arising from an injury occurring from September 25, 2007 until August 1, 2008, or from February 10, 2009 until March 15, 2009.  
3. Kenneth M. Duffus is personally liable with Engineering for any compensable claims that may be made by Engineering’s employees for the periods from September 25, 2007 until August 1, 2008, and from February 10, 2009 until March 15, 2009.
4. Pursuant to AS 23.30.080(f), Engineering is liable for a civil penalty of $51.00 per day for the 968 employee workdays it failed to insure or provide the security required by AS 23.30.075, for a penalty of $49,368.00.  

5. Engineering shall pay the entire $49,268.00 penalty within seven days of service of this decision and order.  Checks shall be made payable to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Benefits Guaranty Fund and must include AWCB Case Number 700002828, in addition to the AWCB Decision Number 12-0193, and be sent to the Alaska Department of Labor, Division of Workers’ Compensation, Juneau Office, P.O. Box 25512, Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512.

6. If Engineering fails to pay the penalty within seven days of service of this decision and order, the Director of the Division of Workers’ Compensation may, under AS 23.30.080(g), declare Engineering in default.  

7. Should Consulting resume operations utilizing employee labor, it shall maintain workers’ compensation insurance coverage of any employees in compliance with AS 23.30.075, and shall file evidence of compliance in accordance with AS 23.30.085. 
8. Consulting is liable for any compensable claims by its employees arising from an injury occurring from March 16, 2009 through September 12, 2010.  
9. Kenneth M. Duffus and Don Beeson are personally liable with Consulting for any compensable claims that may be made by Consulting’s employees for the period from March 15, 2009 through September 12, 2010.
10. Pursuant to AS 23.30.080(f), Consulting is liable for a civil penalty of $10.00 per day for the 340 employee workdays it failed to insure or provide the security required by AS 23.30.075, for a penalty of $3,400.00.  

11. Consulting shall pay the entire $3,400.00 penalty within seven days of service of this decision and order.  Checks shall be made out to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Benefits Guaranty Fund and must include AWCB Case Number 700002828, in addition to the AWCB Decision Number 12-0193, and be sent to the Alaska Department of Labor, Division of Workers’ Compensation, Juneau Office, P.O. Box 25512, Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512.

12. If Consulting fails to pay the penalty within seven days of service of this decision and order,  the Director of the Division of Workers’ Compensation may, under AS 23.30.080(g), declare Consulting in default.  

13. The Special Investigations Unit of the Workers’ Compensation Division shall monitor Employers for compliance with AS 23.30.075 on a quarterly basis, for a period of not less than two years.  Upon full, timely compliance by Employer as set forth herein, the Special Investigations Section shall within 30 days, prepare a proposed Order of Discharge of Liability for Penalty for the board’s approval and issuance. 
Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on November 7, 2012.
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Janet Waldron, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the Board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the Board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the Board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of ARCTERRA ENGINEERING & SURVEYING ET AL, respondents; Case No. 700002828; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, and served upon the parties this 7th day of November 2012.






Sertram Harris, Clerk
�








�The Division’s original and amended petitions also included KND Engineering and KND Engineering, Inc.  The Division later confirmed it was not seeking penalties against either KND Engineering or KND Engineering, Inc.  





32

